
National Park Authority  - 5 July 2021 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member

A VIRTUAL meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held ON 
MONDAY, 5TH JULY, 2021 AT 2.00 PM when your attendance is requested.

Yours sincerely

Stephanie Evans

Transition Director

Link for Members

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE 

To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 
recommendations thereon (below).

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 

Public Document Pack

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fremote.public-i.tv%2F84632-NationalParkAuthorit-bSqwuX&data=04%7C01%7CJulia.Gruffydd%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C49816b04cf7b4f418e7608d93a1a4e72%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637604706927764762%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=I9RNuX%2Bom45KEU5s6g2YwXyb5uGXpJv1W8b4ri2AS5I%3D&reserved=0
http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


National Park Authority  - 5 July 2021 2

agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 
sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 
specifying the nature of the interest.

 
If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 
inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 
recorded in the minutes.
 

3 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

4 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chair since 
the last meeting of the Authority.
 

5 TRANSITION DIRECTOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a report from the Transition Director on meetings attended and 
progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

6 DEFINITION OF AUTHORITY GOVERNANCE BODIES (Pages 5 - 
12)

7 PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO TERMS OF REFERENCE AND 
SCHEME OF DELEGATION (Pages 13 - 24)

8 PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO STANDING ORDER 8.9 (Pages 25 - 
26)

9 MEMBER REPORTS 

To receive any reports from members.

10 GIFTS & HOSPITALITY 



National Park Authority  - 5 July 2021 3

11 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Any other business that the Chair considers of sufficient urgency and has been
notified to him in advance.

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 
Hawkes 01874624337



This page is intentionally left blank



Definition of Governance Bodies

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 5 July 2021

Report Author Julia Gruffydd 

Contributions from:

 Stephanie Evans
 Sean O’Connor

Job title Democratic Services Manager

Contact Details Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To clarify the status of committees, working groups, forums 
and panels and agree any changes to the Terms of Reference 
and Scheme of Delegation;

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Definition of Member/Officer groups

Link to current Terms of Reference and Scheme of 
Delegation

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendations a) To approve the definition of all member/officer 
groups in its governance framework as set out in 
Enclosure 1.

b) To agree the method of appointing Members to  
groups based on either (i) ratio or (ii) self 
nomination; 

c) To amend the Authority’s Terms of Reference 
and Scheme of Delegation to reflect the 
definitions.

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/s46798/Terms%20of%20Reference%20and%20Scheme%20of%20Delegation.pdf
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/s46798/Terms%20of%20Reference%20and%20Scheme%20of%20Delegation.pdf


1.1 Introduction or Background

Following discussions with the Chair and Deputy Chair of the Authority and as part of 
the Action Plan agreed in response to the Audit Wales Report, officers have reviewed 
the status of the following groups and clarify roles and responsibilities:

 Committees
 Working Groups (which could include task and finish groups)
 Forums

Consideration has been taken of the legal framework, composition, chair, purpose and 
rules of engagement, and a summary is set out in Enclosure 1.

Officers recognise and value the skills, experience and knowledge of NPA members and 
welcome all opportunities to work in partnership to achieve our shared vision and 
objectives for the Brecon Beacons National Park. Clarifying the framework for all 
committees, working groups and Policy Forum, as well as Roles and Responsibilities will 
enable effective and efficient partnership working.

1.2 Proposals

1.2.1 Method of appointing Members to working groups

Members are asked to consider how the Authority will make Member appointments to 
groups (such as working groups or management groups).  The two options for Member 
appointments to groups are presented below:

EITHER: 

Ratio: That they continue, as now, to comprise a balance of 2:1 Local 
government/Welsh Government appointed members, as far as is practicable. This 
mirrors the requirement for appointments to committees or subcommittees (which is a 
legal requirement).  

This is the preferred option of officers as it has worked well for the Authority to date, 
and helps ensure all members are represented on committees and working groups of 
the Authority.

  OR;  

Page 6



Self Nomination: That Member appointments are made on the Member’s 
experience/wish to participate and on their available time. Final selections will be 
determined by a majority decision of Members. It is proposed to limit appointments to 
two working groups per Member in any municipal year to ensure that the workload is 
spread evenly amongst Members, and to avoid over-representation of either Local 
Government or Welsh Government appointed Members.  Membership of working 
groups would be over and above any committee membership. 

Irrespective of the decision on the method of Member appointments, where the Terms 
of Reference refer to the group being constituted by Members by reference to their 
named roles, these shall have priority. For example the Authority agreed (21 June 2021) 
that the Chair and Deputy Chair of Policy Forum also sit on the Policy Programme 
Management Group

1.2.2 Definition of Governance Structures

The diagram below summarises the definitions laid out in Enclosure 1: 

In summary, the recommendations provide common classification and characteristics for 
each group type within the Authority. This nomenclature means that a reference to, for 

Page 7



example, a Group means that Members and Officers are clear this body is established to 
perform a single task or activity, over a set period of time. Once the remit of the group 
has been achieved, the group will disband. Timeframes will of course vary according to 
need.

This model should sit at the top of the Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation 
and apply to all governance bodies / groups established by the National Park Authority.

1.3 Implications

Setting this out clearly for both internal and external use will provide consistency and 
transparency in the governance framework, clarify the respective roles of Members and 
officers on those bodies, and improve the governance of the Authority. 

If members opt for appointment to working groups based on self-nomination, adding the 
limit to the number of working groups that a member can be part of will:

(i)  spread the workload more equitably and encourage more members to work with 
officers in a less formal setting and,

(ii) remove the self-imposed balance of 2:1. 

Whilst members can self-nominate, if there is competition, final appointments will be 
made by NPA.

1.4 Risk

Audit Wales has identified a need to clarify roles and responsibilities of members and 
officers in our decision making, and this is a positive step in regularising the Authority’s 
governance framework.

1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to approve the principles of the governance classification framework 
as set out in Enclosure 1.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

a) To approve the definition of all member/officer groups in its governance 
framework as set out in Enclosure 1.

Page 8



b) To agree the method of appointing Members to groups based on either (i) 
ratio or (ii) self-nomination; 

c) To amend the Authority’s Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation 
to reflect the definitions.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Characteristic of body
Committee of Authority Group (commonly referred as Management Group or 

Working Group 

Forum

Nature of Body Formal committee of NPA under s101 Local Government Act 1972 Usually a low number of members (and/or officers) convening to 

discuss or work through an issue.  Ordinarily established by the 

Authority on the recommendation of the CEO.

A standing number of members (and/or officers) convening to 

discuss or work through a wider range of issues defined in the 

Terms of Reference

Purpose of Body Normally to discharge a function or duty of Authority (such as 

PAROW) or a power (similar to Sustainable Development Fund 

Committee)

Usually convened with a specific task or role to discharge. Role is 

usually within a larger project or area of work and outputs are part of 

consideration by a decision making body

To perform the duties as set out in the Terms of Reference but 

normally to give members opportunity to discuss issues with 

officers

Decision making Yes Not decision making - group views help to form officer 

recommendations to the NPA

Not decision making - but debate helps officers to 

consider member views when making recommendations to the 

appropriate body (usually the National Park Authority)

Types of Decisions Any decisions on behalf of and bind the Authority provided (i) within 

Terms of Reference and (ii) not a function that cannot be delegated 

at law.  

Not applicable - group will gives views to help officers make 

recommendations

Not applicable

Composition Smaller than full Authority but must be ratio of 2 LG to 1 WG (to 

comply with Schedule 7 of Environment Act 1995). Ordinarily at least 

3 members. Can include voting or non voting co-opted members. 

Quorum must have 1 WG member and 1 LG member.

Maximum of three members EITHER:  1. Based on 2:1 ratio OR 

2. Elected because of their  experience  or self nominated

NB. This will depend on the decision taken on Recommendation (b) in 

the NPA report  

3. A named lead officer and further officers as required

As stated in the terms of reference - can be open to all members 

or a defined number

Period of activity of Body Normally Standing Committee that lasts at least one entire municipal 

year

Normally convenes until the issue or matter is resolved. Can vary from 

a short lived group  convened to perform a specific task, but may last 

a considerable time (e.g. Strategic Plan Working Groups, Governance 

and Member Development Working Group). 

Can be a set duration determined by the Authority or standing 

forum that lasts at least one entire municipal year

Notice of Meetings Subject to requirement to publish notice of meeting at least 3 clear 

working days prior to meeting (current standing orders state four 

clear working days).

Dates published in online calendar but no formal notice of meeting 

required

Dates published in online calendar but no formal notice of 

meeting required

Forward Programme/ 

Agenda Setting

By the Proper Officer (CEO) or delegated lead. Chair of committee 

can also place items on agenda. 5 members have the right to add 

matter to Agenda. 

Ordinarily the lead officer in consultation with the Chair of the gorup. By the Proper or lead Officer or delegated lead, in consultation 

with the Chair of the Forum

Agenda Agenda set by Proper Officer. Consultation can occur with chair on 

timing of items etc. Agenda published on Modern.gov and available 

to public, members and officers (subject to any exemptions)

Agenda will ordinarily be set by the lead officer indentifying the issues 

to discuss or determine. No formal agenda necessary but as good 

practice agenda published on Modern.gov and available internally 

only

Agenda set by the Proper Officer in consultation with the Chair

Minutes / Broadcast of 

Meeting

Minutes must be kept and formally approved by Committee. 

Meeting normally live broadcast (subject to access to information 

requirements for confidential/exempt items). Current webcasting 

contract reflects NPA decision to livestream NPA, PAROW and Audit 

and Scrutiny Committee.

No requirement to keep minutes or broadcast in any particular format 

or at all. Actions normally recorded and progressed by officers.  

No requirement to keep minutes or broadcast in any particular 

format or at all. Actions normally recorded and progressed by 

officers.

Enclosure 1 : The suggested types of decision making or decision informing bodies within the NPA (being a local authority that operates under the Committee 

system) 

Type of body

P
age 11



Recording of Meetings The Authority current records and livestreams committees as above All group meetings to be recorded for training purposes. Recordings 

available to the members of the working group only and the 

Monitoring Officer.

Forum meetings to be recorded and available internally only to all 

members / officers of the Forum and the MO.

Chair Yes - appointed either by Authority or by the Committee. Has all 

powers delegated to Chair in standing orders

Good meeting practise generally meads a Chair is necessary. To be 

agreed by the working group.

Chair to be elected at the AGM each year

Chair - Special 

Responsibility Allowance.

Allowance payable by Authority for Chair and Deputy Chair of NPA, 

Chair of PAROW Committee and Chair of Audit & Scrutiny Committee

Ordinarily no Chair but even if appointed then no allowance ordinarily 

associated (if member is Chair)

Ordinarily no Chair but even if appointed then no allowance 

ordinarily associated (if member is Chair)

Standing Orders Ordinarily the standard Authority rules apply to the subcommittee. 

Variations permitted to enable subcommittee to transact business 

with more efficacy.

No standing orders apply. Unnecessary due to informal manner of 

debate or work.

No standing orders apply but useful to establish some rules of 

debate as good practice and to manage meetings

Public Speakers Right to address Committee in accordance with Standing Orders No right to address working group - invitation only No right to address working group - invitation only 

Confidential/Exempt 

Matters

Matters are public unless resolution passed to move into private 

session as exempt/confidential matters.

No public access/right to speak or public minutes so all business is in 

private. Ordinarily only named officers/members attend but subject 

to any members right to attend and observe.

No public access/right to speak or public minutes so all business is 

in private. Ordinarily all members have right to attend but if only 

named officers/members then subject to any members right to 

attend and observe.

Welsh Language Agenda and minutes to be published in both Welsh and English As required to comply with the Authority's Welsh Language Standards As required to comply with the Authority's Welsh Language 

Standards

Members/Officers Code of 

Conduct/Declaration of 

interest applies

Yes Yes Yes

P
age 12



Review of Working Groups

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 5 July 2021

Report Author Julia Gruffydd 

Contributions from:

 Stephanie Evans
 Sean O’Connor

Job title Democratic Services Manager

Contact Details Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report 1. To review the purpose of specific bodies prior to the 
AGM on 30 July.

2. To approve terms of reference for the Policy 
Programme Group

3. To agree a change to the terms of reference of the 
Appointments Committee

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Draft Terms of Reference for the Policy 
Programme Group

Link to current Terms of Reference and Scheme of 
Delegation

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendations a) To approve the changes to Working Groups and 
external representation as set out in paragraph 
1.2.1;

b) To approve a change to the terms of reference 
of the Appointments Committee as set out in 
paragraph 1.2.3;

Page 13

Agenda Item 7

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/s46798/Terms%20of%20Reference%20and%20Scheme%20of%20Delegation.pdf
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/s46798/Terms%20of%20Reference%20and%20Scheme%20of%20Delegation.pdf


c) To approve the Terms of Reference for the Policy 
Programme Management Group as set out in 
Enclosure 1.

1.1 Introduction or Background

It is normal practice, and good governance, for officers to review the committee and 
working group list before each AGM (this year to be held on 30 July 2021) to ensure  all 
are still required and fit for purpose.  The Chair and Deputy Chair of the Authority have 
asked that a report be brought to the Authority to update members on the status of 
some of the groups included on the current committee  / working group list, and 
consider recommendations about their future in order to clarify the committee list 
before the AGM.

 Officers have highlighted that the following groups be reviewed:

a) Accommodation Working Group
b) Affordable Housing Working Group
c) Waterfalls Task and Finish Group
d) Meithrin Mynydd Working Group
e) Research Prospectus Representative (external representation)

Current terms of reference for a) and b) are in the Terms of Reference and Scheme of 
Delegation (link above).

The Authority also needs to approve terms of reference for the Policy Programme 
Managment Group established at its meeting on 21 June 2021 so that members can be 
appointed at the AGM.  These are set out in Enclosure 1 to this report.

A recommendation is also made on the Chair of the Appointments Committee, on 
which the current Terms of Reference are silent.  

Officers have also reviewed the external representation in the committee list, and this 
work is ongoing.  The Corporate Governance Team has discussed the Research 
Prospectus post; this is included in the table below.

The table below summarises the current status of these groups, which have been the 
subject of discussion with individual officers and the Corporate Governance Team.   The 
team has assessed the current need for the groups based on progress currently being 
made with workstreams, future needs and have made recommendations based on their 
professional judgement and the recognition that we value member contribution and 
need to focus member effort where it can provide the greatest value.    

Page 14



1.2 Proposals

1.2.1 Proposals for Working Groups

The following changes are proposed to the working groups.  If these recommendations are approved then changes will be reflected 
in the Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation, and  in the AGM agenda on 30 July 2021.   

Body Purpose Current Status Current and future 
need

Recommendation

Accommodation 
Working Group

1. To oversee options 
for alternative HQ 
accommodation for the 
Authority.

2. To oversee 
proposals for use of 
Welsh Government 
funding for 
improvements to the 
National Park Visitor 
Centre

3. As part of 1. and 2. 
to review scoping briefs 
and make 
recommendations to 
the Authority so that 

link to NPA report 
26/6/20 formalising the 
working group

Has not met for more 
than a year due to 
Covid-19 and the lack of 
progress on 
accommodation.

The Transition 
Director has 
established an officer 
working group to:

1. Establish post 
covid 
accommodation 
needs for all 
National Park 
Authority teams;

2. Liase with the 
Police authority 
over their future 
intentions for Plas 
y Fynnon

3. A preliminary 
conversation has 
taken place with 

1. Retain the group 
but not appoint 
members at the 
AGM. 

2. Officers bring back 
proposals for 
member 
involvement at an 
appropriate stage. 
This will likely be an 
initiative under the 
incoming CEO rather 
than the TD.

3. Any proposals for 
the development of 
the National Park 
Visitor Centre be 
brought to 

P
age 15

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/g7768/Public%20reports%20pack%2026th-Jun-2020%2010.00%20National%20Park%20Authority.pdf?T=10
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/g7768/Public%20reports%20pack%2026th-Jun-2020%2010.00%20National%20Park%20Authority.pdf?T=10
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/g7768/Public%20reports%20pack%2026th-Jun-2020%2010.00%20National%20Park%20Authority.pdf?T=10


Body Purpose Current Status Current and future 
need

Recommendation

tenders can be 
awarded.

Welsh 
Government’s 
Transforming 
Towns programme 
to explore what 
funding may be 
available

members 
separately.

Affordable 
Housing Working 
Group

1.To consider the 
implementation of 
current National Park 
Policy in relation to 
Affordable Housing, 
delivery issues and 
future Policy direction

2. To hold quarterly 
meetings

Has not needed to meet 
for some time due to 
stalled LDP timetable.

The status of signed 
SLAs with constituent 
authorities is being 
checked. These were 
agreed by the Authority 
to enable these 
authorities to spend the 
commuted sums from 
affordable housing in the 
Park.

Affordable housing 
policy development 
has been impacted by 
Covid-19 and will 
continue to be so by 
the phosphates issue.  
The Authority agreed 
that the constituent 
Authorities should 
decide how the 
commuted sums are  
spent (SLAs)

Once the status of 
the SLAs has been 
determined a further 
report will be 
brought to NPA with 
further 
recommendations on 

To retain the group: 
to be convened when 
required to address 
policy issues.

P
age 16



Body Purpose Current Status Current and future 
need

Recommendation

the TOR for this 
group.

Waterfalls Task 
and Finish Group

Members requested 
this be set up. No TOR 
were agreed, although 
members were 
appointed and the 
group did meet on 
several occasions.

The lead officer for this 
group was made 
redundant in January but 
officers have progressed 
work in the area.

The Authority is in 
receipt of new grant 
from WG and there 
are several 
overlapping initiatives 
affecting the 
Waterfalls area. 
Officers are currently 
working up a new 
structure for 
delivering our 
ambitions for 
Waterfalls Country 
and will bring this to 
NPA with a request 
for member 
involvement as soon 
as feasible.

Disband the current 
Task and Finish group;

Bring a report for 
information on an 
effective delivery 
mechanism for 
Waterfalls Area in line 
with these suite of 
reports, with a  
request for member 
involvement with the 
overseeing board.

Meithrin Mynydd 
Advisory Group

Set up in the early 
1990s to oversee an 
EU funded project and 
retained by the 
Authority as a useful 
communication channel 
with the graziers in the 
west of the Park.

Valued by officers and 
graziers as a way to 
foster relationships with 
the farming community, 
and by graziers.

Members have aspired 
to deliver elements of 
nature recovery but 

Officers could draw 
up ToR in 
consultation with 
NRW, DCWW, 
Celtic Energy 
(because DCWW 
and CE are also 
landowners) and 
graziers.  The focus 

1. That the current 
Meithrin Mynydd 
Advisory Group be 
re-purposed as a 
vehicle for officers 
to maintain 
communication with 
the graziers.

P
age 17



Body Purpose Current Status Current and future 
need

Recommendation

Has no current terms 
of reference; although 
these were drafted by 
members they have not 
been agreed by the 
graziers.

officers maintain that this 
is not the most effective 
channel for this work.

would be to develop 
a pilot project for the 
Sustainable Farming 
Scheme and this 
could be an ‘end goal’ 
for MM II, leading to 
an area-based 
partnership 
established akin to 
BMLUP, where we 
have a strong ‘seat at 
the table’ as 
landowner but the 
partnership has more 
autonomy. 

2. That officers 
progress the 
establishment of a 
partnership to 
progress work in 
this area and bring 
back proposals for 
member 
involvement.

Research 
Prospectus

A post was established 
which involved a 
member who had a 
long academic 
background and 
provided help in setting 
up the strategic 
partnerships with 
research institutes 
(currently three).  

The current member 
representative has been 
helpful in ensuring that 
the evidence policy has 
been aired and as acted 
as an advocate of 
evidence-based decision 
making.

The Research 
prospectus is an 
essential part of the 
work of the BBNPA. 
For this reason it is 
proposed that in 
future it will form 
part of the Corporate 
Plan (to be approved 
by members).

This work will be 
supported by the 
Authority’s approved 
Evidence Position 
Statement and 

No further 
requirement for a 
specific member role.

P
age 18



Body Purpose Current Status Current and future 
need

Recommendation

Evidence Policy 
Protocol.

1.2.2 Proposed Terms of Reference for the Policy Programme Group

Body Purpose Current Status Current and future 
need

Recommendation

Policy Programme
Management Group

New group approved 
by NPA on 21 June 
2021.

To manage the delivery 
of strategic policy for 
the Brecon Beacons 
National Park

That the terms of 
reference at 
Enclosure 1 be 
approved and added 
to the Terms of 
Reference and 
Scheme of 
Delegation

 1.2.3 Proposed Change to the Terms of Reference of the Appointments Committee

Body Purpose Current Status Current and future 
need

Recommendation

Appointments 
Committee

To make 
recommendations to 
the Authority on the 
appointment of Chief 
Officers, Heads of 
Service and 
independent members 

Has met frequently in 
2020-21 to recruit a 
CEO and to carry out 
performance review for 
the previous CEO.

Will meet to appoint 
the new Leadership 
Team in 2021 but the 
focus will then be 
reviewing the 
performance of the 
CEO.

That the terms of 
reference be 
amended to state 
that the committee 
be chaired by the 
Chair of the 
Authority

P
age 19



of Standards 
Committee; to 
implement a 
performance 
management process 
for the Chief Executive

The terms of reference 
are silent on who 
should chair but it is 
considered appropriate 
and consistent with the 
role of Chair of the 
Authority to chair the 
committee, particularly 
in light of the 
performance review 
remit.  It does not have 
a Senior Salary attached 
to the roleP

age 20



1.3 Implications

The recommendations in the report will provide clarity to members before the AGM.  
It will also ensure that governance structures remain relevant, timely and make the most 
effective use of member skills, experience and capacity at the appropriate stage.   The 
recommendations ensure that officers provide the operational lead on key 
workstreams, with members’ role focused on strategic direction.  Any future proposals 
for working groups will be brought to the Authority with a request to nominate 
members.  

1.4 Risk

Audit Wales has identified a need to clarify roles and responsibilities of members and 
officers in our decision making, and this is a positive step in reviewing some of the 
working groups.

1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to approve the following recommendations.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

a) To approve the changes to Working Groups and external representation as 
set out in paragraph 1.2.1;

b) To approve a change to the terms of reference of the Appointments 
Committee as set out in paragraph 1.2.3;

c) To approve the Terms of Reference for the Policy Programme Group as set 
out in Enclosure 1.

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Terms of Reference for the Policy Programme Management 
Group

Purpose of Working Group 

To manage the delivery of strategic policy for the Brecon Beacons National Park.

Composition 

 The group will be chaired and led by the Chief Executive Officer of the Authority, who 
will be accountable for delivery

 Lead supporting officer will be the Strategy and Policy Manager, supported by other 
officers as needed

 Three members, to include the Chair and Deputy Chair of the Policy Forum (2:1 
balance as far as practicable, whose role will be to advise the group and advocate with 
other members as necessary

 The CEO will have the discretion to invite in other members if their skills and 
experience are relevant to a particular discussion

Terms of Reference 

1. To support the work of officers in developing strategic policy.

2. Set out the timetable (programme) for strategic policy development such as 
the National Park Management Plan and Local Development Plan 

2. Be responsible for adherence / modification of that timetable and advising NPA of any 
changes.

3. Support and advise Officers as they prepare draft Policy Position Statements or draft 
policies for consideration by Policy Forum / other working groups, and ultimately for 
consideration by NPA.

3. Ensure NPA is made aware of any major risks to strategic policy development.

4. Consider budgetary implications for this area of work 

5. Support the drafting of a timetable (or forward plan) and key decision milestones for 
internal and external consultations, meetings with stakeholder reference panel, with 
Policy Forum and for reporting to NPA. 

6. Support and advise the CEO and Chair of the Policy Forum in drawing together Policy 
Forum Agendas and external speakers in support of the policy timetable (programme)

7. Comment on final draft papers and presentations going to the Policy Forum or NPA , 
with final versions agreed between the CEO and Lead support Officer

Page 23



8. The working group will meet monthly or as needed in the opinion of the CEO

Page 24



Change to Standing Order 8.9

Name of Committee National Park Authority

Date 5 July 2021

Report Author Sean O’Connor

Job title Monitoring Officer

Contact Details Sean.oconnor@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To clarify an inconsistency in standing order 8.9 in respect to 
voting at the AGM on 30 July.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures N/A

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendations To amend Standing Order 8.9 to read:

8.9 If more than one nomination is received for any particular 
role then the role shall be elected by the Member candidate 
receiving the highest number of votes in favour. Votes shall 
be cast by written ballot. Where no single Member candidate 
holds the highest number of votes in favour, then the Member 
candidate with the lowest number of votes shall be removed 
until one of the Member candidates has received the highest 
number of votes cast.

1.1 Introduction or Background

Standing Order 8 lists the formalities used by the Authority to elect Chairs and Deputy Chairs 
at the AGM.

A Member has raised an inconsistency in Standing Order 8.9 that may arise in certain 
circumstances. The wording in question is underlined in the Standing Order below:

8.9 If more than one nomination is received for any particular role then the role shall be elected by the 
Member candidate receiving the highest number of votes in favour. Votes shall be cast by written 
ballot. Where no majority has been cast then the Member candidate with the lowest number of 
votes shall be removed until one of the Member candidates has received the highest number of 
votes cast. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



The Member correctly identifies that the first line implies that the winner must have the most 
votes. However the underlined wording then implies that a majority of the available votes is 
needed. For example, if there are 3 or more candidates, the winner could have the highest 
number of votes but not hold a majority.

1.2 Proposals
Decision making and voting process used by the Authority requires a clear winner. Ordinarily as 
Members are generally making a choice between two options in their decision making (e.g. 
approve or not approve), the option that has the ‘majority of votes’ or the ‘highest number of 
votes’ is usually the same choice. However, where members have more than 2 choices in a vote, 
then an option with the highest number of votes may not necessarily have a majority.

The recommendation is to clarify this by change the wording in the second line. The change is 
underlined as follows:

8.9 If more than one nomination is received for any particular role then the role shall be elected by the 
Member candidate receiving the highest number of votes in favour. Votes shall be cast by written 
ballot. Where no single Member candidate holds the highest number of votes in favour, then the 
Member candidate with the lowest number of votes shall be removed until one of the Member 
candidates has received the highest number of votes cast.

1.3 Implications

The recommendations in the report will provide clarity to members before the AGM in respect 
to voting.

1.4 Risk

This change introduces clarity to the election process and there are no perceived risks.

1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to approve the following recommendations.

RECOMMENDATION:  To amend Standing Order 8.9 to read:

8.9 If more than one nomination is received for any particular role then the role shall be 
elected by the Member candidate receiving the highest number of votes in favour. 
Votes shall be cast by written ballot. Where no single Member candidate holds the 
highest number of votes in favour, then the Member candidate with the lowest number 
of votes shall be removed until one of the Member candidates has received the highest 
number of votes cast

Page 26


	Agenda
	6 Definition of Authority Governance Bodies
	Enc 1 - definition of governance groups

	7 Proposed amendments to Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation
	Draft Terms of Reference for the Policy Programme Group

	8 Proposed amendment to Standing Order 8.9

